
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Housing Advisory Board 
 

Date:  Monday, 8 December 2025 

Time:  5.30 pm 

Venue:  Meadows Community Centre, 299 Arbury Rd, Cambridge CB4 2JL 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 3 - 8) 

4    Public Questions  

5    Performance Report (Pages 9 - 26) 

6    Regulation Inspection Grading (Pages 27 - 32) 

7    Rent Regulation (Pages 33 - 36) 

8    Housing Improvement Plan (Pages 37 - 44) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Housing Advisory Board Members: Robertson (Co-Chair), Minns (Co-
Chair), Bird, Gawthrope Wood, Griffin, Lokhmotova, Martinelli, Tong, Best, 
Birch and Powell-Hardy 

Alternates: Bennett, Blackburn-Horgan and Dalzell 
 

Emergency Evacuation Procedure  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building 
by way of the nearest escape route and proceed directly to the assembly 
point in front St Mary’s Church. The duty Officer will assume overall control 
during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the duty Officer is 
unavailable, this responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair. 
 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

• Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

• Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

• Phone: 01223 457000 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. You can 
watch proceedings on the livestream or attend the meeting in person. 
 
Those wishing to address the meeting will be able to do so virtually via 
Microsoft Teams, or by attending to speak in person. You must contact 
Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two 
working days before the meeting. 
 
The full text of any public question must be submitted in writing by 
noon two working days before the date of the meeting or it will not be 
accepted. All questions submitted by the deadline will be published on 
the meeting webpage before the meeting is held. 
 
Further information on public speaking will be supplied once registration and 
the written question / statement has been received. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Housing Advisory Board  Monday, 6 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

1 

HOUSING ADVISORY BOARD 6 October 2025 
 5.30  - 7.59 pm 
 
Present:  
Councillors Robertson (Co-Chair), Minns (Co-Chair), Gawthrope Wood, Griffin, 
Lokhmotova, Martinelli, Tong, Bird, Best and Powell-Hardy 
 
Tenant and Leaseholder Representatives: Diane Best, Diana Minns (Co-
Chair), Mandy Powell-Hardy,  
 
In attendance: Councillor Katie Porrer 
 
Officers: Samanthan Shimmon, Ben Binns, Matthew Stickley, Kate Grigg, 
Tony Stead, Brigitte Wilson 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

2x/13/HAB Apologies 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Harmony Birch (Tenant 
Representative). 
 
Members commented on the issue of late papers being circulated to members, 
noting that Co-Chairs and colleagues had previously raised concerns about 
the lack of timely documentation and the misalignment between the Housing 
Advisory Board, Cabinet, and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
timetables. 

2x/14/HAB Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

2x/15/HAB Minutes 
 
The Board discussed the impact of late papers on effective member 
participation, the circulation of minutes, and the scheduling of future meetings. 
 
RESOLVED: that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 8 July 2025 be 
agreed as an accurate record. 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Housing Advisory Board  Monday, 6 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

2 

2x/16/HAB Public Questions 
 
There were no public questions. 

2x/17/HAB Strategic Procurement Pipeline for Repairs, Maintenance, and 
Compliance Contracts 
 
Samantha Shimmon, Assistant Director for Housing and Health, presented the 
report, which the Board noted had been agreed by Cabinet on 25 September 
2025 following consideration by the Performance, Assets and Strategy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
In response to questions, officers clarified that the corporate report template 
did not currently include a section for consultation with tenant and leaseholder 
representatives, but officers would consider how such engagement could be 
more explicitly demonstrated in future reports. 
 
The Board discussed the importance of tenant satisfaction as a clear and 
measurable indicator of service performance, as highlighted by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. The Board further discussed the flexibility within 
contract specifications to adapt to evolving service requirements (e.g. 
changing compliance standards or priorities). 
 
RESOLVED: To note the report. 

2x/18/HAB North Cambridge Framework for Change 
 
Ben Binns, Assistant Director for Development, presented the report, which the 
Board noted had been agreed by Cabinet on 25 September 2025. 
 
In response to questions, officers clarified that extensive door-knocking and 
engagement had been undertaken to reach residents within the affected areas. 
It was noted that there was no direct link between market rents and social 
housing rents or service charges. 
 
The Board discussed whether levels of resident engagement were likely to 
improve as proposals were further matured. The Board further discussed the 
demographic breakdown of consultation respondents, the rate of responses 
from leaseholder sub-tenants, and the expectations of residents, especially in 
the context of anticipated local government reorganisation. Officers agreed to 
provide follow-up data regarding leaseholder sub-tenants. 
 

Page 4



Housing Advisory Board  Monday, 6 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

3 

RESOLVED: To note the report. 

2x/19/HAB Awaab's Law and Damp, Mould and Condensation Policy 
 
Brigitte Wilson, Delivery Assurance Manager, outlining the forthcoming 
implementation of Awaab’s Law and the implications for the Council’s Damp, 
Mould and Condensation Policy. 
 
Officers confirmed that Awaab’s Law, which forms part of the Social Housing 
(Regulation) Act 2023, will take effect from 27 October 2025. Phase One will 
introduce legally enforceable deadlines for addressing emergency hazards 
such as damp, mould, gas leaks, and structural collapse. Phases Two and 
Three, due in 2026 and 2027 respectively, will extend these requirements to 
include hazards such as fire risk, electrical faults, extreme temperatures, and 
hygiene-related issues. 
 
Members emphasised the reputational and financial risks of non-compliance 
and the importance of ensuring adequate resources within the repairs and 
housing management teams. 

2x/20/HAB Resident Engagement Strategy 
 
Kate Grigg, Resident Engagement Manager, presented the item. 
 
In response to questions, officers clarified that a final version of the strategy 
was planned to be brought back to the Housing Advisory Board and Cabinet in 
the new year, and that the draft included proposals for regular forums, surveys, 
and feedback loops with tenants and leaseholders. 
 
The Board discussed the importance of a succession strategy for the Housing 
Advisory Board, with efforts to engage younger tenants for more balanced 
representation, the potential for pilot projects in specific estates or 
neighbourhoods to trial new engagement approaches, and the need to ensure 
that feedback is not only collected but visibly acted upon to maintain trust and 
momentum. 

2x/21/HAB Housing Complaints 
 
Tony Stead, Business Improvement Manager, presented the report. 
 
In response to questions, officers clarified that a service failure referred to 
instances where works were not completed on time, where the works carried 

Page 5



Housing Advisory Board  Monday, 6 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

4 

out had worsened the issue, or where more serious issues had arisen. It was 
noted that the Housing Ombudsman had encouraged greater promotion of the 
council’s complaints process, and that a complaint was considered resolved 
once the related work had been booked. In some cases, repair works were 
completed but related issues were subsequently incorporated into a wider 
programme of improvement works. Officers noted a minor increase in cases of 
damp, condensation, and mould. It was also clarified that complaints submitted 
without a prior service request were first treated as service requests rather 
than formal complaints. 
 
The Board discussed whether there were identifiable patterns of service 
failures which, if addressed, could improve performance and reduce the overall 
number of complaints. Members also suggested that it would be useful to 
receive comparative data against previous years to assess trends and 
progress. 

2x/22/HAB Housing Performance 2024-25 
 
Samantha Shimmon, Assistant Director for Housing and Health, presented the 
report, noting that an appendix to the report provided the Performance Report 
for Q1 of the 2025-26 year. 
 
In response to questions, it was clarified that complaints submitted without a 
prior service request were first treated as service requests rather than formal 
complaints. 
 
The Board discussed whether there were identifiable patterns of service 
failures which, if addressed, could improve performance and reduce the overall 
number of complaints. Members also suggested that it would be useful to 
receive comparative data against previous years to assess trends and 
progress. 
 
Prior to closing the meeting, the Board noted with sadness the passing of 
John Marais, a former Tenant and Leaseholder representative member of the 
Housing Scrutiny Committee, and expressed gratitude for his significant 
contributions over the years. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7.59 pm 
 
 

Page 6



Housing Advisory Board  Monday, 6 October 2025 

 

 
 
 

5 

 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

   

1. Housing Performance Report – Quarter 2 2025-26 

 

Responsible Officer 

 

Catherine Buckle 

Business Development Manager (Housing) 

 

Contact Details Tel: 01223 457261 

 

Email: catherine.buckle@cambridge.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of Paper 

 

 

 

 

To provide a quarterly report of performance in housing, relating to 

operational efficiency, health & safety and tenant satisfaction. 

Brief Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

The Housing Service keeps an oversight of several operational, 

management and stress indicators, incorporating benchmarking data 

where relevant and indicators reported to the Regulator of Social 

Housing.  

Is the paper going to 

Cabinet or either 

Scrutiny Committee’s? 

N/A 

 

 

Cambridge City Council 

Housing Advisory Board Paper 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



0 
 

 

  

HOUSING 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

2025-26 as at Qtr. 2 

Sam Scharf – Communities Director 
      

Page 11



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

1 
 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ...................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Operational efficiencies .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Health & Safety in council homes ........................................................................................................................ 5 

Compliance as at 30/09/2025 ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Damp, Condensation & Mould Cases update .................................................................................. 10 

Disrepair Claims Progress ................................................................................................................... 12 

The Tenant’s Voice .................................................................................................................................. 13 

Engagement with tenants ........................................................................................................................ 15 

 

  

Page 12



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

2 
 

Introduction 

This report outlines how key areas of the Housing Service has performed over the first 2 quarters 

of 2025/26. 

The service keeps an oversight of several operational, management and stress indicators. 

Monitoring and review take place quarterly at Housing Leadership Board.  

Performance measures have been presented in the following way:  

• Operational efficiencies, which will also pick up some of the indicators submitted to the 

Regulator via Local Authority Housing Submission (LAHS) and the Tenant Satisfaction 

Measures (TSM’s) and used for benchmarking purposes via Housemark, 

• Health and Safety, where datasets on compliance are aligned with the Regulator’s 

requirements on reporting,  

• Where services are not meeting customer expectations, an understanding of where 

dissatisfaction is high is captured via complaints monitoring and transactional surveying. The 

‘Tenants Voice’ dashboard shows current levels of satisfaction with services.  

Cambridge is a member of the Housemark benchmarking group; a social housing performance 

comparison club, which allows the service to compare costs and performance against a ‘peer 

group’ of authorities with a similar profile to Cambridge.  Our position against our peers in relation 

to performance indicators helps the service to set realistic and achievable targets, as well as giving 

Managers the opportunity to open a dialogue with comparable Local Authorities who are 

achieving, for example, better performance at a lower cost per property for the same service.  

Benchmarking quartiles are calculated based on the peer group’s scores against these indicators 

(where available). Our position is this group is determined by using the latest benchmark data 

available; in this report year-end 2023/24. Those who fall in quartile 1 are the best performers and 

those in quartile 4 are the poorer performers. For repairs benchmarking, we use peers who also 

have a direct labour organisation (DLO). 

Targets are decided by factoring in previous performance, comparison to our peer group scores 

and the resource required to maintain or improve performance.  

 

  

Page 13



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

3 
 

Operational efficiencies 

Ref Description Target 

25/26 

Quarter 1 

2025-26 

Quarter 2 

2025-26 

Current 

benchmark 

Quartile 

I1 Rent collected from 

current and former 

tenants, as a % of the 

annual rent due 
(excluding arrears bought 

forward) 

100.00% 104.76% 101.69% Q1 

I2 Current tenant arrears as 

a % of the annual rent 

due 

3.50% 3.64% 3.82% Q3 

I3 Former tenant arrears as 

a % of the annual rent 

due 

2.00% 2.99% 3.34% Q4 

I4 Void loss as a % of rent 

due 

N/A 4.16% 4.21% Q4 

I5 Leasehold service charge 

arrears (no payment plan 

in place) 

<£50,000 £62,071 £48,581 NA 

HH1 Tenancy audits 

completed (% of overall 

stock) 

10% 1.62% 2.2% NA 

 

Manager’s commentary: 

 

I2 & I3 - Due to the current rent regulation work, enforcement action has been reduced whilst we 

focus on the rent error issues. Whilst they continue to try and engage with tenants who are in 

arrears, these KPIs are predicted to continue rising until the team can continue with enforcement 

work. 

 

I4 – Shows the total rent and service charges lost due to voids - as at end of qtr. 2, this amounts 

to £1.21 million.  Included in this figure are properties set aside for redevelopment, any bulk 

handover of new build properties that were waiting to be let and those undergoing energy 

efficiency works. 

 

I5 –The total arrears as at end of qtr. 2 were £116,433. Most charges are paid under an agreed 

payment plan, but we currently have £18,100 of arrears where the case is with the legal team 

and £19,480 where the leaseholder is deceased or the properties are being bought back for 

redevelopment and £11k with no payment agreement in place. 

  

HH1 – Due to a significant rise in the workload coming into the Tenancy Management team, 

most of which is of an increasingly complex nature, as well as unforeseen resource shortages; 

the number of properties receiving tenancy audits has significantly reduced.  It is likely this this 

will continue for the foreseeable future, and we will not be able to meet the 10% target this year.  

Discussions are on-going regarding a long-term solution for this. To date however, the team 

have supported 131 households with advice and support during and following a tenancy audit. 

Page 14



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

4 
 

Ref Description Target 

25/26 

Quarter 1 

2025-26 

Quarter 2 

2025-26 

Current 

benchmark 

Quartile 

V1 Average re-let time in 

days (key-to-key) 

35 43.4 46.9 Q1 

V2 Average time in days to 

repair a void 

20 33.4 31.6 Q3 

 

Manager’s commentary: 

V1 – This PI incorporates both the repair time and letting time of a void. Repairing the void is 

covered below. Housing a general needs tenant took on average 15 days once the keys were 

returned from the void repair team.   

Housing a sheltered tenant takes longer (average 19 days once the keys were returned), largely 

due to the requirement to complete assessments for each individual to ensure that their needs can 

be met prior to an offer being made.  We recognise that there is scope to reduce this time, and 

have amended processes from Q3 within the housing support team to ensure assessments are 

arranged sooner, as well as starting to complete pre-assessments for those in Band A so that 

when they come top of a short list we can more straight to the offer stage.  

V2 – The system reported construction phase void turnaround time sits around 12 days on 

average; this system driven approach needs reviewing as it doesn't reflect the 31.6 days reported 

in the Q2 report. 

Ref Description Target 

25/26 

Quarter 1 

2025-26 

Quarter 2 

2025-26 

Current 

benchmark 

Quartile 

R1 Appointments kept as a 

% of appointments 

made 

90% 95.7% 95.9% Q2 

R2 Percentage of repairs 

completed at first visit 

85% 83.1% 80.9% Q3 

 

Manager’s commentary: 

R1- This percentage shows that we are above target but as always improvements are being 

reviewed going forward. 

R2 - The Team leaders are meeting regularly with the CSC team and the work planning team to 

engage with Residents on providing accurate descriptions for requested repairs, they are also 

working with the MSO's daily on repair appointments to establish the reasoning behind repairs that 

cannot be completed on a first-time fix basis. These 2 initiatives will hopefully assist with increasing 

the lower reported Q2 % in Q3. 

 

Page 15



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

5 
 

Health & Safety in council homes 

Reporting and publishing data on our performance against the building safety Tenant Satisfaction 

Measures (management data) is a mandatory requirement under the new Social Housing 

(Regulation) Act 2023. Where the data relates to properties within a block, each flat still in council 

ownership must be counted. This also includes those units managed by a third party, as the 

council as the landowner retains overall responsibility for health & safety. 

At the present time, EICR reporting is NOT included in the TSM’s, however, for consistency, the 

service is calculating the results based on the TSM methodology. 

Awaab’s Law, which came into force on 31st October 2025, sets strict timescales for social 

landlords to investigate and address damp, condensation and mould (DCM) hazards in their 

properties.  

Compliance as at 30/09/2025  

The number of affected units change quarterly as properties are sold/demolished/added to stock.  

The data includes properties run under the Management Companies.  

TSM 

Ref/Ref 
Description Affected units 

(denominator) 
*Number 

compliant 

(numerator) 

% compliant 

(Qtr. 1) 

BS01  
 

% of homes for which all required gas 

safety checks have been carried out. 
6914 6912 100.0% 

BS02 
% of homes for which all required fire risk 

assessments have been carried out. 
**4027 3524 87.5% 

BS03 

% of homes for which all required asbestos 

management surveys or re-inspections 

have been carried out 

3001 3001 100.0% 

BS04 

% of homes for which all required 

legionella risk assessments have been 

carried out 

981 981 100.0% 

BS05 

% of homes for which all required 

communal passenger lift safety checks 

have been carried out  

1294 1294 100.0% 

C2 

 % of domestic properties with a 

satisfactory Electrical Installation Condition 

Report (EICR) up to five years old  

7647 7322 95.7% 

*The numerator; those units for which the Authority holds an in-date safety certificate. 

** included in this statistic are some blocks that require a check on whether communal space is 

present; the denominator is reducing as the team find no FRA required. 

 

Manager’s commentary: 

FRA’s: 2 building surveyors have been appointed to identify those blocks that require a check on 

whether communal space is present. A new app ‘Safetyculture’, has been utilised to capture this, 

plus a range of other block details, to support the ongoing maintenance of our blocks and to inform 

our Asset Management system. 

Page 16



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

6 
 

As part of the above monitoring, the number of outstanding actions found during the assessments 

carried out are included below.

Page 17



7 
 

General Needs properties 

 

 

 

Overdue 

0

0 0 0

Communal 
Doors 

Flat Entrance 
Doors

Notes

Estimated

Notes

0

16 250 0 0 0 0

0

Total Number of 
Assets 

Total Number of 
Doors 

Doors Inspected 
Compliance  
Percentage

Actions Actions Completed Outstanding 

Buildings Over 11 Meters Fire Door Inspections 

Total Number of 
Assets 

16

Total Number of 
Doors 

392

Doors Inspected 

0

Compliance  
Percentage

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Compliant 

0

Actions Actions Completed Outstanding Overdue Compliant 

0 0 0

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

93.93% 93.93% 93.93% 93.93% 93.93% 93.93%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

90.67 90.67 90.67 90.67 90.67 90.67

M
ar

ch
 

Fe
b

93.37% 93.37% 93.37% 93.37% 93.37% 93.37%

Compliance Dashboard

Previous Months Data 

Ju
ly

 

Ju
ne

 

M
ay

 

Ap
ril

Housing 

↑ 7028 5447292

M
ov

em
en

t T
re

nd

Co
m

pl
ia

nt

Closing Data    
August 

No
n 

Co
m

pp
lia

nt
 

Electrical Heating (NO GAS) 1556 1556 0 100% → 1556 0 Un verified 

CO2 6610 6610 0 100% → 6610 0 Un verified 

44 0 Un verified 

Lift Assurance 44 44 0 100% → 44

Lift Servicing 44 44 0 100% →

0 Un verified 

Un verified 

FA                                                                                                                                                      
Fire Alarm Servicing 

4 4 0 100% → 4 0 Un verified 

EL                                                                                                
Emergency Lighting Testing 

29 29 0 100% → 29 29

→ 6604 6604100%6604

Un verified 

Un verified 

759

→ 9 0

→ 478 29

→ 7590

0

29

0

6809 483 93.37%

467

769

9

90.67

100%

100%

93.93%449

759

9

478

6604

Domestic 5 year                                                                                
Electrical Installation Condion Report 

Communal 5 year                                                                                
Electrical Installation Condion Report 

L8                                                                                                                     
Water Risk Assessments

ASB                                                                                                                             
Asbestos Surveys 

LGSR                                                                                                 
Annual GAS Inspection 

FRA                                                                                                                           
Fire Risk Assessments 

NotesCompliance Reporting Area

As
se

t C
ou

nt

Co
m

pl
ia

nt

No
n 

Co
m

pp
lia

nt
 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 

Current Period
September 

515 48 → 467 48

P
age 18



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 19



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

9 
 

Sheltered Properties 

 

P
age 20



10 
 

 

Other key areas of health and safety not formally reported to the Regulator, but monitored 

internally: 

 
Ref Description  Target At end 

Jun 25 

% 

installed 

Notes 

 Smoke Alarms in place  

 

 7464 7288 94.9% Properties due 

for 

redevelopment 

have been 

removed from 

the denominator 

 CO Alarms in place 

 

 6916 6261 90.6% 

 Heat Detectors in place  7464 6270 84.0% 

 All Electric Properties (no gas)  N/A 717 N/A  

 

Commentary:  

 

The Compliance Team have been working with the Asset Management team recently to gain 

assurance that everything was being monitored and reported on. Having worked alongside Asset 

Management, the Compliance Team now must own the data and compliance with the legislation. 

Over the next quarter this is expected to improve to the targeted required performance levels. 

 

Damp, Condensation & Mould Cases update  

This report tracks the progress of Damp, Condensation, and Mould (DCM) cases and Disrepair 

Claims, with a strong focus on managing rising volumes, improving case handling, and enhancing 

collaboration across teams. Key efforts include weekly contractor meetings, and process 

improvements supported by data tools. 

Health and Safety indicators relating to Awaab’s Law: 

 

A damp and mould live case is where damp and/or mould has been recorded in line with policy 

and investigations into or actions to tackle the cause of damp and/or mould are ongoing and yet to 

be resolved. 

 

A housing disrepair claim is a legal claim brought by a tenant or on a tenant's behalf in respect of 

poor housing conditions at a home where the council is responsible for maintenance. 

 

 

Ref Description 
As at end 

Qtr. 2 

As a % of 

stock 

Benchmark 

position 
 Notes 

O9a 

Number of damp 

and mould ‘live’ 

cases 

166 2.18% Q3  
 See report below for 

details 

Ref Description 
As at end 

Qtr. 2 

Per 1000 

properties 

Benchmark 

position 
 Notes 

O9b 
Number of disrepair 

claims 
13  1.7 Q2  

See report below for 

details 

Page 21



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

11 
 

Total cases received 2023/24: 474 Completed  

 

2024  Reported  
Completed

  

N/Access

  

Asset/  

Planned  

Work in 

progress  

Number of 

‘live’ cases  

Apr  63  63  0 0 0 0 

May  50  48 1  0 1 2 

Jun  53  53  0 0 0 0 

Jul  61  61 0 0 0 0 

Aug  33  31 0 0 2 2 

Sep  49  43 0 0 6 6 

Oct  60  54 0 0 6 6 

Nov  99  90  1   0 8 9 

Dec  71  56 0 0 15 15 

Jan  99  86 0 0 13 13  

Feb  84  73 0 0 11 11 

Mar  67  57 0 0 10 10 

Total 789  715 2 0 72 74 

2025  Reported 
Completed

  

N/Access

  

Asset/  

Planned  

Work in 

progress  

Number of 

‘live’ cases  

Apr   49  32 0 0 17 17 

May   37  29 0 0 8 8 

Jun 43 24 0 0 0 19 

Jul 31 15 0 0 16 16 

Aug 26 8 0 0 18 18 

Sep 27 13 0 0 14 14 

Oct 41 2 0 0 39 39 

Total 254 123 0 0 112 131 

Tally  *1517 838 2  0  184 205 

 *2023, 2024 and 2025 DCM cases received 

  

Alongside operational delivery, the team has a new Damp and Mould (DCM) spreadsheet, 

designed to minimise manual errors and improve data accuracy. The tool is fully linked to our 

Business Intelligence (BI) system, enabling more accurate and timely reporting while reducing 

administrative time. This enhancement supports our compliance with the recently implemented 

Awaab’s Law, strengthens case tracking and performance analysis, and ensures that tenants 

continue to live in safe, dry, and high-quality homes. 

 

During this period, case completions are being affected by a temporary holding phase while 

transitioning from Oak to Foster.  

The DCM Team have adopted new performance indicators that directly measure the requirements 

of Awaab’s Law legislation and are currently collating the data required for these measures. These 

will be made available in the next report. 

Page 22



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

12 
 

Disrepair Claims Progress   

Current Claims Breakdown (as of November 2025)    

Year Total Live 

Claims 

In Progress Works being 

completed 

 Post-completion 

inspections 

2022/23 2 0 1 1 

2023/24 7 0 3 4 

2024/25 8 0 2 6 

2025/26  18 10 7 1 

Total 35 10 13 12 

 

There were 4 new claims received October 2025. 

 

Surveyors have faced challenges in completing post-completion visits due to capacity constraints; 

however, an additional surveyor is now being brought in to help clear the backlog and ensure 

timely inspections. 

 

 

Expenditure Breakdown  

 

Financial Year 

 

Legal/Consultancy 

Costs 

Compensation 

payments 

Work given to 

external contractors 

2022/23 £12,250 £41,500   

2023/24 £125,055 £36,526   

2024/25 £233,622 £49,756 £128,223 

2025/26 £322,975 £30,292 £134,552 

  

 

Page 23



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

13 
 

The Tenant’s Voice 

Feedback from tenants helps shape services and provides the necessary challenge to make improvements. We have access to feedback for 

satisfaction with a new build home and the responsive repair service via the surveys below, which are completed at, or very close to, the time the 

service was received. We are looking to expand these types of ‘instant feedback’ surveys in 2025/26 for parts of the planned works and tenancy 

management services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

14 
 

 

P
age 25



Housing Services performance report to Housing Advisory Board   
 

15 
 

Engagement with tenants  

Since April 2025 resident engagement activity has had significant influence on several key 

areas: 

• Tenant Satisfaction Survey Action Plan: Residents' recommendations for service 

improvement were added to the TSM action plan following the latest 2025/26 survey 

results. 

• Estate Walkabouts: a refreshed initiative to bring together council staff, contractors, 

members and residents in walking through our estates to examine service standards 

regarding communal area, window cleaning and grounds maintenance as well as 

identifying estate improvements. Four estate walkabouts have been organised this 

Summer and Autumn across the city as part of a pilot phase, so far this has enabled 

residents to raise issues with key housing staff in-person and discuss wider 

community problems. A more comprehensive schedule will be planned for next year. 

• External Planned Maintenance Contract: being re-procured with tenants and 

leaseholders on the evaluation panel, for the contract of an estimated value of £35 

million. 

• Resident Involvement Strategy: the elected HAB Reps and some other involved 

residents took part in an in-person workshop in August to determine and develop the 

objectives that will underpin the refresh of our Resident Involvement Strategy. More 

engagement activity with a wider group of residents will take place this Autumn. 

• Open Door review: residents who sit on the ‘Open Door’ editorial panel and the 

elected HAB Reps were consulted in August about the review of our tenant and 

leaseholder magazine, their feedback was a key part of forming the options appraisal 

that is being developed. 

• Education and Engagement in Fire Safety: the elected HAB Reps requested a 

dedicated meeting in September to provide feedback and suggestions for increasing 

capacity around engagement and education in helping to carry out our Fire Safety in 

Communal Areas Policy. 

• Window Cleaning Contract: will be re-procured with residents on the evaluation panel 

for contract of an estimated value of £300K. Procurement began in September, and a 

new contract is likely to commence in April 2026. 

 

Page 26



 

 

   

1. Rent Regulation Update 

 

Responsible Officer 
 

Samantha Shimmon 
 

Contact Details Tel: 07743 180011 
 
Email: samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk  
 

Purpose of Paper 
 
 
 
 

To provide an update to Housing Advisory Board on the Rent Regulation 
Project. 

Brief Summary 
 
 
 
 
 

Paper provides progress updates on project, communications with affected 
tenants and risks.  

Is the paper going to 
Cabinet or either Scrutiny 
Committee’s? 

Update is purely for Housing Advisory Board 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Cambridge City Council 

Housing Advisory Board Paper 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6

mailto:samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Regulatory Feedback – Consumer Standards Inspection 

1. Overall Outcome 

The Regulator confirmed a C2 Regulatory Judgement for Cambridge City Council on 15th 
October 2025. This means that the Council is compliant with the Consumer Standards, 
with some areas for improvement that require attention. 

As part of the inspection, they have removed the Judgement regarding compliance with 
the Rent Standard, which we are now compliant with. 

For context the results from Local Authorities that have had gradings, both through the 
inspection regime or through responsive engagement (those that have self-reported) 
provides an overview of the current local authority performance up to September 2025.  
This outlines that the City Council are within the 38% that are seen as compliant. 

 
 

2. Reasons for the C2 Judgement 

The following three issues were considered material and underpin the C2 grading: 

1. Stock condition survey coverage – being addressed through the acceleration 
programme. 

2. Medium-risk remedial actions – 660 actions overdue fire risk actions at the time of 
inspection with recognition of the focus on high risk over the past 18months and 
acknowledgement we are working on these. 

C1, 4, 

7%

C2, 18, 31%

C3, 32, 55%

C4, 4, 

7%

Regulatory judgements

Page 29



3. Health & safety data – Ongoing concerns about the accuracy and storage of key 
compliance data, with a recognition that a programme of work is already underway to 
address these. 

3. Strengths and positive recognition 

The Regulator acknowledged substantial improvement across all Consumer Standards 
since 2023 within the areas we were already engaged with them on.  More broadly, 
specific areas they reflected on: 
 - Stock Quality: Acceleration of stock condition surveys and strong Decent Homes 
position and data triangulation to support. 
- Repairs and Maintenance: Compliant service, good satisfaction, strong engagement in 
policy formation from tenants. 
- Compliance: Major improvements in FRA, asbestos, and EICR. Strong DCM 
management and accessible comms. 
- Tenancy Management: Transparent lettings, strong support for tenancy sustainment. 
- Engagement and Accountability: Tenant reps actively involved; good visibility of 
leadership. 
- Rent: Council now meets the Rent Standard, with strengthened internal processes and 
assurance. 

4. Provider Improvement Process  

The Regulator will continue engagement via a Provider Improvement Process, on a bi-
monthly reporting and assurance cycle. The improvement plan must address the 
following: 
 
Priority Areas: 
1. Assurance on delivery of the accelerated stock condition survey programme. 
2. Remediate overdue medium-risk fire actions. 
3. Continue strengthening data systems and internal assurance. 
 
These will be joined up with key feedback points that the Regulator expects to see built 
into performance management and delivery reporting: 
- Full integration of the TSM Improvement Plan, with visible feedback loops to tenants 
(“You said, we did”). 
- Commissioning and effective use of the Tenant Census. 
- Delivery of the Resident Engagement Strategy. 
- Clear reporting against quarterly Fire Remediation submissions, including delivery of 
associated actions. 
 

Page 30



5. Communications 

We proactively emailed those tenants who we have a email address for, with a video 
link. The email was delivered to 6051 tenants, 3838 were opened and the video link was 
viewed 382 times.  

The housing presses picked up the story but focused more on the Registered Provider 
who received a C3 judgement, it didn’t appear more widely.  

6. Reflections on the Process 

The Regulator praised the Council’s transparency, strategic leadership, and non-
defensive culture. 
- Documentation was well presented and accessible which allowed for a smooth 
Inspection. 
- CEO and Cabinet Leader presentations gave valuable context. 
- Use of third-party audits and clear improvement journey were viewed positively. 
- The inspection team appreciated the openness about challenges and commitment to 
further improvement, reflecting on the culture within the organisation  

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

1. Rent Regulation Update 

 

Responsible Officer 
 

Samantha Shimmon 
 

Contact Details Tel: 07743 180011 
 
Email: samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk  
 

Purpose of Paper 
 
 
 
 

To provide an update to Housing Advisory Board on the Rent Regulation 
Project. 

Brief Summary 
 
 
 
 
 

Paper provides progress updates on project, communications with affected 
tenants and risks.  

Is the paper going to 
Cabinet or either Scrutiny 
Committee’s? 

Update is purely for Housing Advisory Board 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Cambridge City Council 

Housing Advisory Board Paper 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7

mailto:samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Rent Regulation Project Update November 2025 

Tenant Communications  
All current tenants have been sent regular updates letters regarding the progress of the 

project. Further, tenants who have emailed, former and current, have been sent a digital 

copy of the most recent updates too. Progress letters have been sent in: 

 

• February 2024 

• July 2024  

• November 2024 

• May 2025 

• November 2025 

 

In the November letter, tenants were advised we have split them into four groups:  

 

• Group 1 Tenants who do not receive any form of housing related benefit  

• Group 2 Tenants who receive Housing Benefit only 

• Group 3 Tenants who receive both Housing Benefit and Universal Credit 

• Group 4 Tenants who receive Universal Credit only 

 

and we would start the first groups refunds in October.  

 

Refunds  

We sent the first individual refund letters from Group 1 on 27th October 2025. These 

tenants have returned their online forms to confirm they agree with the amount owed and 

we are now processing the payment. 

 

Group 1 has been split down further to allow for immediate processing of those tenants 

who pay their rent by direct debits. The priority details are as follows: 

 

• 1st priority   Tenants paying by direct debit 

325 refunds to process 

• 2nd priority   Tenants not paying by direct debit 

198 refunds to process 

• 3rd priority   Tenants who have terminated since 01/04/2024 

46 refunds to process 

 

Amounting to 569 tenancies in Group 1. 

Rent Regulation Teams next steps  

The second priority groups require the OneID software to be installed. The commercial 

agreement is in progress, and we look to start the integration with our IEG4 online forms 

software in the coming weeks. 

Page 35



2 
 

 

Alongside this we continue to work on the recalculation of Housing Benefit so we can 

move to Group 2 as soon as all of Group 1 tenants have been contacted with their 

individual refund information. 

 

Testing for the Housing Benefit recalculation has been troublesome, as the system is not 

designed to recalculate such vast amounts of data, or reopen cases over a 20-year period. 

However, we have been able to overcome each bottleneck and move forward with the 

process. 

 

DWP  

The DWP advised they had discussed their suggested resolutions with the Permanent 

Secretary, Sir Peter Schofield, and it could now be moved to the Design Authority. 

However, they are no able to share the information as this is restricted but advised they 

would provide an update before the next tenant communication.  

 

The council remains liable for the repayment of the Universal Credit overpayments and will 

remain liable should they choose to refund directly to the tenant. Given they have not 

started to test the process resolutions, they continue to be our highest risk and as such, 

further opinion from Senior Counsel is currently being reviewed. 

  

Regulatory Judgement  

Nonetheless, we are very happy to report, following an extensive audit and review by the 

Regulator of Social Housing, they are now satisfied we are compliant with the rent 

standard. Subsequently, they have removed the judgement they published in July 2024. 

This has been communicated on our webpage, and we will also include in the November 

update to the current affected tenants.  

Page 36



 

 

   

1. Housing Improvement Plan 

 

Responsible Officer 
 

Samantha Shimmon 
 

Contact Details Tel: 07743 180011 
 
Email: samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk  
 

Purpose of Paper 
 
 
 
 

To provide an update to Housing Advisory Board on the Housing 
Improvement Plan 

Brief Summary 
 
 
 
 
 

Paper provides progress updates on improvement plan and any additions or 
completions.   

Is the paper going to 
Cabinet or either Scrutiny 
Committee’s? 

Update is purely for Housing Advisory Board 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Cambridge City Council 

Housing Advisory Board Paper 

Page 37

Agenda Item 8

mailto:samantha.shimmmon@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 OFFICIAL#

Housing Service Improvement Plan (post Inspection) 28-Nov-25

Scope: To deliver agreed actions arising from self assessment  the recommendations following mock inspection and findings of the June 2025 Regulatory Inspection  
Lead: Housing Improvement Group
Sponsor: Housing Leadership Board

Group Service area Delivery Manager Action Purpose of action 
(benefit to service) - 
Primary

Purpose of action 
(benefit to service) - 
Secondary

Supporting 
service

Delivered by 
date

Links to other projects 
(hyperlink to be established)

Update: October 2025 Complete? Further action Delivered by 
date

Complete? Update: November 2025

City Services Asset Management Sean Cleary Review and develop an HRA Asset Management Strategy for 2026 onwards, 
include feedback from tenants and stakeholders

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

Finance 31/03/26 HRA 30-year Business Plan 
Review

City Services Asset Management Sean Cleary Asset Management Team Review: deliver the outcomes of the review improved performance cost savings External 
Consultancy

01/09/26

City Services Asset Management Will Barfield Brief Housing Leadership Board on the current refusals/exclusions in Asset 
and the proposal of refusals will be managed going forward.

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

N/A 31/07/2025 Refusals are currently revisited every 2-3 years, 
or when a property becomes void.  WB - 
17/10/25

Y

City Services Asset Management Catherine Buckle Data Interrogation Project – appoint consultants to interrogate other sources 
of housing data to identify component replacements, installs and health & 
safety activity in properties during day to day and void works over the last 10+ 
years.

improving data cost savings PMO 31/12/25 MRI Asset Feedback session with Altair which presented 
the findings of the first phase on 30th 
September. 

further action 
identified

 - Project group to agree the data assumptions made 
to allow for the data to be loaded into Asset Test 
 - Process mapping required to map out how the 
service will undertake regular data triangulation 
exercises.

30/11/25 N  - ISSUE identified with data used and report 
presented - not to CORE 2 brief. CB to speak to Ian 
Lever to address.
UPDATE: Set of data now available for checking - CB 
to arrange session to agree assumptions 

City Services Asset Management Will Barfield Develop proposal for Cabinet decision on delivery of a 5-year cyclical stock 
condition survey process via an external consultant – undertake market 
testing, develop specification and scope (potential use of Procurement 
Framework) 

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

N/A 31/07/2025 This proposal has been approved by Cabinet. A 
market-engagement event has taken place and 
project brief under development.  Target for 
issue of tender is November 2025, and start of 
surveys April 2026   WB  17/10/25

Y

City Services Asset Management Brigitte Wilson Ensure planned works and cyclical programme spreadsheets are using a 
PRN/UPRN against every property

reduced risk streamlined process N/A 31/03/26 Needs to be scoped.

City Services Asset Management Brigitte Wilson Ensure we can produce an accurate dashboard of Decent Homes via the MRI 
reporting framework to replace current manual process

Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 31/03/26 MRI Asset Needs scoping / checking against MRI programme 
improvements

City Services Asset Management Clive De Silva Produce and implement a "specification for asset information" to standardise 
asset information received from all contractors replacing asset components

streamlined process staff time savings ICT 30/11/25 MRI Asset

City Services Asset Management Brigitte Wilson Provide training and confirm process for Void and Responsive Repair 
Surveyors to undertake stock condition surveys whilst undertaking void and 
day to day repairs

cost savings streamlined process N/A 31/03/26 MRI Asset System & support team will commence with a 
workshop within the next month.

City Services Asset Management Brigitte Wilson Trial the agreed specification for asset data in new builds on the Aylesborough 
Close development with the Development Team.

staff time savings streamlined process ICT 31/03/26 ? Not sure where this is at, will have to investigate with 
the team. (Better update next month!)

City Services Asset Management Brigitte Wilson Strengthen contract management by developing and agreeing KPIs with 
contractors, setting clear standards of service within planned works, cyclical 
maintenance, and responsive repairs contracts, and ensuring contractor 
systems are integrated with CCC systems to enable real-time performance 
monitoring and transparent reporting.

streamlined process improved performance Procurement 01/04/26 Repairs & Maintenance 
Procurement Framework

Repairs and Planned maintenance approach to 
procurement
The framework for the procurement of robust 
and compliant delivery partners has been 
mapped out. The programme of procurements 
can be found here

further action 
identified

Deliver the procurement framework for each 
component of the repairs and planned maintenance 
service - under a phased approach.

Phase 1: Specification design underway

City Services Housing Operations Sean Cleary Deliver the ‘Tenant Satisfaction Measures Action Plan’ actions in relation to 
repairs, compliance and planned maintenance services, and pick up any 
further actions from the 2024/25 Survey.

31/03/26 This needs to be focused on going forwards as 
this hasn't been a priority with the inspection live, 
but needs to be high priority now we are in the 
last months ahead of the next survey in Feb/Mar 
26.

further action 
identified

Suggested areas of focus on 5 key TSM's to improve 
satisaction; suggested 'Tenant Pledges' - key 
deliverables around communication, transparency 
and engagement - to be discussed at next 
Improvement Plan Group meeting in December

31/01/26

City Services Housing Operations Brigitte Wilson Agree the disrepair process; how disrepair cases will be recorded and how 
performance will be measured, as per the requirements of the Regulator

reduced risk Governance and 
oversight

01/07/26 Resource for this work is currently dedicated to the 
DCM process review/improvements. Once the MRI 
element of that project is underway, we may have 
additional resource capacity to start reviewing 
disrepair

City Services Housing Operations Peter Gale Produce a Repairs and Planned Maintenance Policy, including information on 
tenants’ rights and responsibilities, in partnership with tenants, and publish on 
the Housing webpages

reduced risk Improve customer 
satisfaction

IPSC Team 31/08/25 Tenant Satisfaction Measures 
Action Plan

Delayed - to be picked up and finalised once 
PDA post appointed to.

N Policy & Data Analyst to support Operations Team in 
finalising this Policy - post now appointed, awaiting 
start date

30/01/26

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Laura Herrera-Martin Damp, Condensation & Mould Project - review current processes and develop 
procedures for accurate logging and reporting of DCM cases within Awaab's 
Law timescales

Regulatory 
requirement

streamlined process PMO 30/10/2025 DCM Process review Interim solution in place that allows for the 
management and reportingof DCM cases. 
Reporting will be taken to HAB on a quarterly 
basis and KPI's incporporated into the 
Performance Management Framework for 
Cabinet

Y

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Deliver the agreed programme of MRI Asset module installs in partnership with 
MRI. Agreed the priority list to be:

Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 28/02/2026 MRI Projects as at Nov25 The programme of MRI Projects as at 01/4/25 
has been provided containing the detailed 
timetables for each module

It has been established that MRI might not be the 
1 stop solution for asset information. However 
alternative systems that have been explored do 
have an open API to report into MRI going 
forwards

further action 
identified

SafetyCulture platform will hold risk assessments and 
outstanding actions for all areas of compliance, 
linking automatically each night to Enterprise.

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (1) Servicing Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 01/04/26 MRI Asset .Gas Compliance- LGSR is currently being 
managed on a standalone database via excel. 
Whilst this is not ideal CCC does have an audit 
and reconciliation method that provides a 
reasonable level of assurance. The planned 
intention is transfer to a digital platform in the 
near future

Implementation of the MRI Asset Servicing modules 28/02/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (2) Asbestos Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 01/04/26 MRI Asset Assessment and suitability checks have been 
completed on the online TEAMS platform. The 
outcome of that was that the system would be fit 
for purpose and answers all legislative 
requirements. A waiver has been completed and 
circulation has begun to the required 
stakeholders to get sign off for implementation.

further action 
identified

Implementation of an asbestos compliance solution 
(TEAMS)

31/01/26

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Brigitte Wilson (3) DCM Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 30/06/26 MRI Asset DCM project to identify a a software solution for 
the management of DCM

further action 
identified

Some process improvements have been delivered, 
further improvements reviewed over December.  
Longer term, MRI solution to be implemented by June 
2026 - currently being scoped and planned with 
Accordio

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Then schedule:
(4) electrical safety testing (Inc. fire alarms)

Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 31/03/27 MRI Asset Life Safety Systems -Fire Alarm, Emergency 
Lighting, Dry Riser systems are currently being 
managed on a standalone database via excel. 
Whilst this is not ideal CCC does have an audit 
and reconciliation method that provides a 
reasonable level of assurance

  28/02/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (5) Lift servicing Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 31/03/27 MRI Asset Communal Lift Servicing-LOLER is currently 
being managed on a standalone database via 
excel. Whilst this is not ideal CCC does have an 
audit and reconciliation method that provides a 
reasonable level of assurance  

  28/02/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (6) EICR's Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 31/03/27 MRI Asset Electrical  Compliance-EICR is currently being 
managed on a standalone database via excel. 
Whilst this is not ideal CCC does have an audit 
and reconciliation method that provides a 
reasonable level of assurance  

  28/02/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (7) Water hygiene Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk ICT 31/03/27   Water Hygiene Management and  Compliance-
Legionella is currently being managed on a 
standalone database via excel. Whilst this is not 
ideal CCC does have an audit and reconciliation 
method that provides a reasonable level of 
assurance

28/02/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch (8) Detectors reduced risk streamlined process ICT 31/03/27 MRI Asset The process of domestic smoke and CO2 
alarms is fragmented and detatched from both 
the electrical contract and the gas contract  

30/11/2025

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Agree the requirements of the quarterly report to Manco Board of Directors 
on Compliance, including when certification is to be shared with CCC.

Governance and 
oversight

streamlined process N/A 21/12/2025   Manco report to be presented to HLB in next 
meeting, once signed off this will be embedded.

further action 
identified

Sign off Manco Reporting process 21/12/25 further action 
identified

15th of each month, ManCo's will be providing copies 
of relevant building safety certificates to a shared 
email. Compliance Officers will be repsonsible for 
collating and saving to file, as well as updating the 
qtrly stock reconciliation

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Check process for gas capping and the follow up procedures are in place and 
being adhered to. Update HLB

Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk N/A 31/12/2025   The Gas capping process is in place and both 
the contractor and CCC have good processes 
and data capture techniques. If there is a 
shortfall on the process it’s the management of 
vulnerable residents athat have had their gas 
capped. Compliance are working with housing 
teams to ensure that this area is improved. 
Process mapping to be strengthened.

further action 
identified

Create the gas capping/vulnerable tenants 
processes. 

31/12/2025

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Smoke/Heat/CO detector records - Check servicing schedules for accuracy 
following quarterly stock reconciliation

reduced risk streamlined process IPSC Team 31/07/25   Servicing Data and Scheduling appears weak. 
 Compliance team are undertaking an asset log 
database that will ensure that this is accurate 
going forward

further action 
identified

New Asset Attribute Log to be created. Refresh the 
data set that we have for detectors data. Its estimated 
this process will take 90 days

28/02/26

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Compliance Team to arrange for and confirm receipt of, compliance 
certification for freehold blocks managed by management companies.

reduced risk streamlined process N/A 31/10/25   Work needs to be strengthed to understand our 
supplier framework and the skillsets that they 
have, and how they align with the required 
accreditation to complete the tasks 

further action 
identified

Supplier Framework to be created. 30/01/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Confirm location and accessibility of Asbestos register – share 
communications and any necessary training for key officers requiring 
knowledge and/or access to register

Regulatory 
requirement

streamlined process N/A 28/02/2026 MRI Asset The new asbestos register is being built and 
sanitised now. This will provide a reliable and 
accurate database for CCC to maintain in the 
future  

further action 
identified

31/12/25

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Confirm sets of data where we have key reliance on our external contractors. 
Produce a procedure for the regular sharing of compliance datasets and 
develop a process for reconciliation of compliance data   

Regulatory 
requirement

streamlined process N/A 31/07/25   As part of Altair project; will be addressed as 
part of the MRI 2025/26 solution in terms of data 
ownership and management

further action 
identified

31/03/26

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Develop a cyclical audit schedule across key areas of compliance Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk Audit 30/09/25 MRI Asset Audit and Governance needs to be 
strengthened. The key issue is that the data sets 
within compliance are not consistent and 
accurate. Emphasis will be put into building an 
accurate data base that can then be audited 
and governed in line with legislation 

further action 
identified

Create Governance and Audit reporting criteria. 30/04/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Develop a Policy Statement on our approach to Health & Safety, including 
policies for each area of Compliance – our approach and the standard of 
service tenants can expect. 

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

IPSC Team 31/08/25   This will be created in line with the big 6 policy 
creation. 

further action 
identified

A whole new policy suite needs to be created to the 
big 6 , BSA and the compliance approach to 
management. These policies once created will 
require management committee or board approval. 
Realistically a complete policy set will take 6 months 
to achieve and embed  

30/04/2026

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Develop reporting mechanisms ( following feedback from Members and audit 
recommendations) to include resolutions of remedial actions across all areas 
of compliance

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

30/09/2025 MRI Asset New reporting format has been agreed and 
presented to HLB. This will be the new format 
going forwards.

Y

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Mick Burch Fire Risk Management Strategy to be updated Regulatory 
requirement

reduced risk External 
Consultancy

31/08/25 N Create Fire Management Strategy - link to Corporate 
H&S

31/03/26

City Services Property Compliance & Risk 
Assurance

Peter Gale Health& Safety/Compliance Management Review: deliver the outcomes of the 
review

improved performance streamlined process External 
Consultancy

31/12/25

Communities City Homes Sarah Steggles Undertake ASB, hate incidents and domestic abuse reporting for HRA 
properties to the Cabinet Member for Housing

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

31/12/25

Communities City Homes Samantha Shimmon Work with the Cabinet Lead for Housing, Cabinet and Scrutiny to ensure 
appropriate oversight on strategy, risk and performance 

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

Finance 30/06/2025 Performance Management 
Framework (Corporate)
HRA 30-year Business Plan 
Review

Performance went to HAB in October for Q1 
and Scrutiny Chair and VC present. Q2 will go 
to HAB and Cabinet in December. 
Housing Risks is going to HAB in December

Y

Communities City Homes Catherine Buckle CORE lettings data - explore data upload of CORE data into Enterprise improving data ICT 31/03/26 still to be actioned

Communities City Homes Anna Hill Develop a  mechanism for reporting against the Tenancy Standard, to HLB 
and HAB/Cabinet as appropriate, considering allocations & lettings (CORE 
data), sustainment, the use of LLP's direct lets, MEX's and adapted properties. 
Show evidence that legislation is being met

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

N/A 31/03/26 No progress made on this yet, focus has been 
on other priorities.

Communities City Homes Sarah Steggles Develop a hate crime/incident policy for CCC’s housing service properties 
through a standalone policy or inclusion in the Anti-Social Behaviour Policy.  
Ensure that there is a policy/framework in place for how the CCC housing 
service will respond to reports of domestic abuse from CCC tenants and 
households

streamlined process reduced risk IPSC Team 31/12/25

Communities City Homes Catherine Buckle Develop a Tenant Data Strategy: consider use across services, impact on 
service delivery, data protection, equal accessibility to services and service 
outcomes for tenants.

Governance and 
oversight

improving data IPSC Team 30/09/26 Tenancy Management data 
review
Corporate Data Strategy (IPSC 
Team)

is this a task for Keryn? If not, who?

Communities City Homes Catherine Buckle Housing Enterprise: Tenancy Management data review: identify how tenant 
demographic and tenancy management information is stored, updated and 
checked for accuracy across housing services. Identify areas of weakness. 
Develop processes for improving accuracy of tenant data within Enterprise.

Regulatory 
requirement

improving data PMO 30/06/26 Proposal to be raised with PMO for resource to 
deliver

Communities Impact, Performance & 
Strategic Change

Catherine Buckle Agree a process, a timetable and the primary content for sharing key housing, 
Health & Safety and compliance performance with Stakeholders, including 
Cabinet

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

IPSC Team 30/04/2025 Performance Management 
Framework (Corporate)

current reporting template in place, will need to 
feed into PMF, once established

Y

Communities Impact, Performance & 
Strategic Change

Catherine Buckle Undertake audit of current corporate complaints system to ensure it is robust 
enough to report to the requirements of the Housing Ombudsman. Identify 
improvements within the system for reporting on Housing complaints to 
Cabinet and the Regulator

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

IPSC Team 30/09/2025 agreed way forward for capturing relevant 
cases for TSM return; ensure TSM return data is 
captured in Annual Report going forward to 
ensure consistently

Y

Communities Impact, Performance & 
Strategic Change

Catherine Buckle Complaints response times: review current procedures across Operations to 
ensure complaints are being responded to promptly. Make recommendations 
for any process improvements and deliver

Improve customer 
satisfaction

streamlined process IPSC Team 31/03/26 Complaints reporting and current internal 
processes of dealing with complaints in Housing 
to be picked up  following appointment of  
Temporary Policy & Data Analyst

further action 
identified

Appoint to Policy & Data Analyst (Housing) 31/12/25 further action 
identified

Communities Impact, Performance & 
Strategic Change

Catherine Buckle Review out of date polices and ensure all key polices are in place and 
socialised

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

IPSC Team 31/03/26 Temporary role being advertised to evaluate and 
configure an updated suite of Policies across 
Tenancy Management / Supported Housing / 
Operations? 

further action 
identified

Agree the scope of services to be supported by P&P 
Officers

30/11/25 further action 
identified

Maternity cover for Rasha's post now appointed; start 
date TBC. Focused work on key area of policy to be 
developed by role.

Communities Impact, Performance & 
Strategic Change

Catherine Buckle Set up a project team to maintain oversight of housing-related web content. Improve customer 
satisfaction

reduced risk Web Team 30/09/2025 Invite sent to Managers to identify responsible 
Officers within teams. Qtrly meetings added to 
diaries

Y

Communities Public Safety Yvonne O'Donnell Clarify process and develop procedures for how ASB cases are allocated 
between City Homes and Public Safety

streamlined process Improve customer 
satisfaction

N/A 30/11/25

Communities Public Safety Catherine Buckle Develop a mechanism for sharing information with staff on what services 
across the Council are delivered to tenants, outside of Housing (Community 
Safety  Standards  Streets & Open Spaces etc)  

Governance and 
oversight

streamlined process IPSC Team 31/03/26 check PMO schedule for 
possible links to other projects

Ideas for this to be considered as part of 
Webpages Review Group 

Web Management Group in place; to be added to the 
agenda

Communities Resident Involvement Samantha Shimmon Allocate the Executive Member for Housing as the Member responsible for 
complaints under the current structure at CCC.  Ensure this information is 
clearly communicated to all staff in the housing service   

Regulatory 
requirement

Governance and 
oversight

30/06/2025 This has been formally logged.  Y Need to provide Cllr Bird with quarterly complaint 
information for review and then final 

31/03/26

Communities Resident Involvement Kate Grigg Deliver a series of pop-up service community workshops; ensuring service 
managers are engaging with residents on the ground

Improve customer 
satisfaction

capturing feedback N/A 01/09/26 Pop-ups will be informed by the objectives and 
actions outlined in the new Tenant and Leaseholder 
strategy to be approved in March 2026. 
A calendar of pop-up events will be developed for 
2026 each with a thematic focus.

Communities Resident Involvement Kate Grigg Develop the Housing Board, to ensure the tenants’ voice is represented at the 
highest level and providing advice and input to Cabinet, alongside Members 
and independent experts

Governance and 
oversight

capturing feedback N/A 30/06/25 This is ongoing, October's meeting itself was 
good but the administration leading up to it and 
ensuring papers were published and sent out to 
Tenant and Leaseholder Reps and Members 
was not great  

further action 
identified

Set schedule for the sharing of meeting papers and 
publicise

30/11/25 Y

Communities Resident Involvement Kate Grigg Develop the scope of engagement opportunities. demonstrate outcomes of 
tenant engagement activities and how they have influenced strategies, policies 
and decision making within a reporting framework

Improve customer 
satisfaction

capturing feedback 31/12/25 Initial mapping of engagement channels and 
activities completed.

Aligning engagement opportunities with the objectives 
and actions set out in the new strategy. As part of 
refreshed strategy, there will be clear indicators to 
measure engagement impact and a plan to 
comminicate these outcomes

Communities Resident Involvement Kate Grigg Ensure the tenant engagement strategy is reviewed within the timeframe 
identified and tenants are engaged in that review.

Improve customer 
satisfaction

capturing feedback N/A 31/03/26 Objectives and actions co-developed with the 
tenant and leaseholder representatives. 
Presented to Oct Housing Advisory Board

Draft objectives and actions now being consulted on 
with wider tenant and leaseholder base.

Communities Resident Involvement Kate Grigg Undertake a tenant census, and utilise other sources to obtain further data if 
required (Census etc)

improving data Improve customer 
satisfaction

PMO 31/03/26 Initial round of procurement failed, and have 
since rethought the best approach to undertake 
this data project

further action 
identified

further action 
identified

Currently exploring how to best deliver this, in-house 
or procuring externally.

Resident Involvement Samantha Shimmon Deliver the ‘Tenant Satisfaction Measures Action Plan’ actions in relation to 
repairs, compliance and planned maintenance services, and pick up any 
further actions from the 2024/25 Survey.

Improve customer 
satisfaction

improved performance 31/03/26 This needs to be focused on going forwards as 
this hasn't been a priority with the inspection live, 
but needs to be high priority now we are in the 
last months ahead of the next survey in Feb/Mar 
26.

further action 
identified

Suggested areas of focus on 5 key TSM's to improve 
satisaction; suggested 'Tenant Pledges' - key 
deliverables around communication, transparency 
and engagement - to be discussed at next 
Improvement Plan Group meeting in December

31/01/26

# OFFICIAL

P
age 39



Theme / TSM Pledge Actions Timeline
 • Set up tenant focus group to inform a better repairs process • Mar 2026
• Use AI to analyse survey feedback • Apr 2026
• Publish step-by-step repairs guide • Jun 2026
• Introduce SMS/portal updates • Sep 2026
• Publish annual programme online & in newsletters • Jan 2026
• Send personalized notifications • Feb 2026
• Provide FAQs & timelines • Apr 2026
• Train staff on proactive communication • May 2026
• Set up working group to develop our Engagement Strategy • Feb 2026
• Launch surveys & engagement with the new Strategy • Mar–Jun 2026
• Share draft strategy for feedback • Jul 2026
• Publish final strategy & report back • Sep 2026
• Analyze geographical satisfaction data • Mar 2026
• Hold local listening sessions • Apr–Jun 2026
• Develop targeted improvement plans • Aug 2026
• Deliver staff training • Oct 2026
• Publish safety updates • Jan 2026
• Create videos/infographics • Mar 2026
• Offer drop-in sessions/webinars • Apr–Jun 2026
• Review emergency contact details • May 2026

TP08: Fairness and Respect We will treat every tenant fairly and with respect.

TP05: Home Safety We will keep your home safe.

TP02: Repairs Satisfaction We will make your repairs journey simple and stress-free.

TP04: Home Maintenance We will keep you informed about planned maintenance.

TP06: Listening to Your Views We will involve you in shaping our services.

Page 40



 OFFICIAL#

# OFFICIAL

Page 41



 OFFICIAL#

Group Service area Lead Responsible Officer Benefits realisation Further scopin  Risk category Primary risk Priority Suport required Relationship to o  Further work required Complete?
Communities Asset Management Ben Binns Anna Hill capturing feedback Y H Breach of Regulations H Audit Y Y
City Services Housing Operations James Elms Ben Binns cost savings N M Financial M Customer Services N N
Corporate Hub Property Compliance & Risk Assurance Sam Scharf Brigitte Wilson Governance and oversight L Health & Safety L External Consultancy further action identified
Economy & Place Homelessness prevention Samantha Shimmon Catherine Buckle Improve customer satisfaction Inaccurate data sets Finance

Housing Support Sean Cleary Clive De Silva improved performance Lack of oversight HR
Resident Involvement Faye Turner Improving data Reliability of data ICT
City Homes James Elms increased income Customer dissatisfaction Legal 
Housing Advice Kate Grigg reduced risk N/A
Impact, Performance & Strategic Change Keryn Jalli Regulatory requirement PMO
Public Safety Laura Adcock Staff morale Procurement
Delivery Assurance Laura Herrera-Martin staff time savings IPSC Team

Lorna Winn streamlined process Web Team
Mick Burch
Peter Gale
Sam Scharf
Samantha Shimmon
Sarah Steggles
Sean Cleary
Simon Hunt
Simon Penn
Sue Amner
Rania Marjeh
Vicky Haywood
Will Barfield
Yvonne O'Donnell

# OFFICIAL

Page 42



 OFFICIAL#

Tasks
Start End Duration Label Vert. Position Vert. Line

01/04/25 31/03/26 364 MRI Asset -25 -25

01/04/26 20/04/26 20 Task 2Apr 1 - Apr 20 -40 -15

21/04/26 14/05/26 24 Task 3Apr 21 - May 14 -55 -15

28/04/18 12/07/18 76 Task Label 4 -80 -80

15/06/18 04/07/18 20 Task Label 5 -30 -30

05/07/18 03/08/18 30 Task Label 6 -45 -15

10/08/18 10/09/18 32 Task Label 7 -20 -20

11/09/18 15/09/18 5 Task Label 8 -60 -40

16/09/18 06/10/18 21 Task Label 9 -75 -15
Insert new rows above this one

Milestones
Date Label Position

02/04/18 Start, Apr 2 30

14/05/26 Milestone #1 25

03/08/18 Milestone #2 20

06/10/18 Deliver, Oct 6 15
Insert new rows above this one

00/01/00 01/01/00 02/01/00 03/01/00 04/01/00 05/01/00 06/01/00 07/01/00 08/01/00 09/01/00 10/01/00

Housing Improvement Plan - Key Dependencies

# OFFICIAL

P
age 43



 OFFICIAL#

PROJECT TIMELINE by Vertex42.com
https://www.vertex42.com/ExcelTemplates/project-timeline.html

About This Template
This template uses a scatter chart with data labels and error bars to create a project timeline that shows 
both milestones and tasks with durations. Unlike a Gantt chart, which shows each task on a separate row, 
you control the vertical positioning of tasks within the timeline. You can specify the length of the vertical 
leader line to help show task dependencies.

This type of project timeline is mainly useful for a general overview of a project rather than showing a 
detailed work breakdown structure.

More Templates
Visit Vertex42.com to download other timeline and project management templates.
More Timeline Templates
More Project Management Templates

About Vertex42
Vertex42.com provides professionally designed spreadsheet templates for business, home, and education - 
most of which are free to download. Their collection includes a variety of calendars, planners, and 
schedules as well as personal finance spreadsheets for budgeting, debt reduction, and loan amortisation.

Businesses will find invoices, time sheets, inventory trackers, financial statements, and project planning 
templates. Teachers and students will find resources such as class schedules, grade books, and attendance 
sheets. Organise your family life with meal planners, checklists, and exercise logs. Each template is 
thoroughly researched, refined, and improved over time through feedback from thousands of users.

# OFFICIAL

P
age 44

https://www.vertex42.com/ExcelTemplates/project-timeline.html?utm_source=ms&utm_medium=file&utm_campaign=office&utm_content=title
https://www.vertex42.com/ExcelTemplates/project-timeline.html?utm_source=ms&utm_medium=file&utm_campaign=office&utm_content=url
https://www.vertex42.com/ExcelTemplates/timeline.html?utm_source=ms&utm_medium=file&utm_campaign=office&utm_term=timeline&utm_content=more
https://www.vertex42.com/ExcelTemplates/excel-project-management.html?utm_source=ms&utm_medium=file&utm_campaign=office&utm_term=timeline&utm_content=more
https://www.vertex42.com/?utm_source=ms&utm_medium=file&utm_campaign=office&utm_term=timeline&utm_content=logo

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Performance Report
	Housing Performance Report 2025-26 Qtr 2 - report to Advisory Board- FINAL

	6 Regulation Inspection Grading
	Regulatory Inspection Grading Briefing

	7 Rent Regulation
	Rent Regulation Project Update November 2025

	8 Housing Improvement Plan
	Housing Improvement Plan 2025-26 - powerBI
	Activity Tracker
	Pledges
	Risk Matrix
	dropdowns
	Timeline
	About



